ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in failing to dismiss the case based upon the State's Brady 

violation where the State failed to disclose favorable exculpatory and impeachment 

evidence in the possession of the investigating agency for this prosecution, the West 

Virginia State Auditor's Office? 

2. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in failing to dismiss the case based upon the State's 

soliciting of false testimony from witnesses before both the grand and petit juries? 

3. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in allowing the State to present testimony from a witness 

from the State Auditor's Office regarding an opinion about the alleged fraud that had not 

been previously disclosed to Ms. Shanton, which caused a violation of the specification 

requirement of State ex rei Day v. Silver, and which caused a prejudicial variation 

between the evidence presented and the indictment? . 

4. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in providing a jury instruction that allowed the jury to 

convict if they made a subjective determination that a purchase, though for official state 

purposes, was made at an "excessive" price? 

5. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in failing to find that the statute of conviction regarding 

the fraudulent use of a state-issue purchase card was unconstitutionally vague on its face 

and as applied in this case? 

6. 	 Whether the circuit court erred in failing to dismiss the indictment as insufficient both 

prior to trial and during the trial based upon the State's presentation of evidence? 
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1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

ELIZABETH SHANTON'S EMPLOYMENT AT SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY 

At the time of the Indictment in this case, Ms. Elizabeth Shanton had been employed by 

Shepherd University for over fifteen years. Ms. Shanton began her career at Shepherd University 

in the financial aid office and at the time of the Indictment had held the positions of Assistant 

Director of the Student Center, Director of Commuter Affairs, and Director of Greek Life. In 

this position with Shepherd, one of Ms. Shanton's main job tasks was planning and putting on 

different events and activities for Shepherd University students with the goal of providing the 

students with a rich and rewarding experience outside of their academic classes. Ms. Shanton' s 

motto was to do great things for great students. 

To carry out the duties of her position, Shepherd University issued Ms. Shanton a state

issued purchase card (P-Card). While there were general rules and regulations governing the use 

of the purchase card, Ms. Shanton' s department had no specific rules regarding the use of the 

purchase card and there was a very high limit placed on single purchases and monthly purchases. 

Don Rohel, Ms. Shanton's direct supervisor, had often made similar expensive purchases with 

his purchase card and the person in a similar position to Ms. Shanton, Rachel Meads, had 

expended similar amounts that were expended by Ms. Shanton. Ms. Shanton's department had a 

culture of liberal spending on student programming. 

Even though Ms. Shanton's department had no specific rules and had a culture of liberal 

spending, the Procurement Office at Shepherd University oversaw and monitored Ms. Shanton's 

monthly expenditures as well as her individual purchases. Pursuant to the Procurement Office, 

Ms. Shanton was required to enter her monthly purchases electronically through an electronic 
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system known as FIMS and to also provide paper reconciliation regarding her purchases. 

Purchases that were considered unique for a school setting would trigger the West Virginia State 

Auditor to conduct individual audits of such purchases. 

Ms. Shanton, who had a very busy schedule, was often behind on her paper 

reconciliation, but was up to date on her electronic reconciliation. Ms. Meads, who had similar 

responsibility and spending as Ms. Shanton, was also often behind on her paper reconciliation. 

As part of the programming put on by Ms. Shanton and other members of her department, 

there would often be give-aways, door prizes, raffle prizes, and prizes for winning various games. 

Many of the items to be given away as prizes were often very expensive and included I-pads, 

video game systems, and televisions. Ms. Shanton would purchase prizes and other items to put 

on events for various regular programming, which including Commuter Outreach programming, 

Bingo, Greek events, and two times a year- a raffle event named Good Morning Commuter. The 

programming would often have specific themes such as holiday related themes like Valentines 

Day or Halloween, sports-related themes, such as the NFL, or culturally-related themes, like 

Black History Month. The prize raffle baskets at the Good Morning Commuter events would 

include a fashion baskets, which would typically contain items purchased from a Coach store, an 

electronics basket, a car care basket, a kitchen basket and many other assorted basket 'themes' 

and prizes. 

II. INVESTIGATION AND DIRECT INDICTMENT 

Due to what was viewed as liberal purchases being made by Shepherd University, the 

West Virginia State Auditor's Office began an audit of all of Shepherd's purchases as well as 

Shepherd's oversight of purchase-card holders. 
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On April 17,2013, the Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, after consultation 

with the West Virginia State Auditor's Office and the Commission on Special Investigations 

made the decision to directly present Ms. Shanton's case to the grand jury. The grand jury 

returned 54 counts- the first count alleging a fraudulent scheme in which Ms. Shanton 

appropriated over $85,000 from Shepherd University and 53 counts alleging that Ms. Shanton 

illegally made purchases with her state-issued purchase card. 

The decision to indict Ms. Shanton was seemingly based upon what on their face 

appeared to be strange purchases made by Ms. Shanton, such as fashion items, make-up products 

and various other items. As it would become clear at trial, there was seemingly no investigation 

that would back up the charges besides the fact of the purchases themselves. None of the items 

that Ms. Shanton purchased were ever found to be in her personal possession. There was an 

almost complete lack of investigation at the school with almost no contact with students that 

attended Ms. Shanton's programs and where there was contact with students, the exculpatory 

information that they provided was completely ignored. Essentially, the entire case against Ms. 

Shanton rested upon the fact of the purchases themselves, numerous spreadsheets that were 

created to look at these purchases, employees at Shepherd University that were quick to 

scapegoat Ms. Shanton to deflect from their own liberal usage of their purchasing cards, and Ms. 

Shanton's admittedly sloppy paper record keeping (though her timely electronic record keeping). 

ill. DISCOVERY PROCESS 

There are many words that can be used to describe the State's discovery process in this 

case. On the more charitable end, the discovery was voluminous and confusing. On the less 

charitable end, the discovery was a document and file dump meant to overwhelm, confuse, and 
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obfuscate. At the very least, it can probably be agreed that the discovery in this case was 

voluminous, complex, and overwhelming for both the State and Ms. Shanton. Unlike the typical 

criminal case, there was almost no police involvement save for a single search warrant for 

electronic equipment. The State received all of the discovery from the West Virginia State 

Auditor's Office and the Commission on Special Investigations, relying on these agencies for the 

investigation usually reserved for local or state police. 

Almost all of the discovery was disclosed to Ms. Shanton in electronic format on data 

discs. These discs would contain folders upon sub-folders of documents and many gigabytes 

worth of data. Even when performing triage in an attempt to only print out the relevant 

discovery, the print-outs consisted of over ten banker boxes. The discovery, in part, consisted of 

all of the credit card statements, receipts, and exception reports related to purchases made by Ms. 

Shanton in an approximately two year period, raw data related to every single p-card purchase 

made by every single university employee during the same time period, a plethora of Excel 

spreadsheets attempting to organize the data, all of Ms. Shanton' s emails recovered from her 

Shepherd University Microsoft Outlook account, all of the emails recovered from various 

Shepherd University employees in the Procurement Office, interoffice emails between the 

investigating agencies, emails between the investigating agencies and Shepherd University 

employees, and a plethora of computer files ostensibly retrieved from Ms. Shanton's computer, 

school-issued phone, and other electronic equipment. 

As an example of what this discovery looked like in practice, Ms. Shanton has included 

as a sample a few "print screens" of the files contained on a single disc- this disc being number 

7- provided by the State. App. 5987. On the first screen of the disc, it is apparent that the disc 
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marked "Disc #7 Commission on Special Investigations Disc#3" contains sub-files and then 

numerous loose "documents," including investigation reports, interviews, spreadsheets, and 

emails. Upon clicking on a single file, labeled "Shepherd CDs," the following screen brings up 

numerous other sub-files, including "ESHANTON backup 10-15-12," which in the compressed 

version takes up 1.8 gigabytes of data. Upon clicking on that file, there are then numerous sub

files each with additional sub-files. 

Lost in the discovery disclosure was a forensic analysis that the West Virginia State 

Police performed on Ms. Shanton's electronic equipment, which extracted all of the files from 

the equipment. This forensic analysis was not turned over to Ms. Shanton until the first day of 

trial. App. 1630. 

Moreover, the State never turned over a file from the West Virginia State Auditor's office 

that contained the individual audits associated with some of Ms. Shanton's purchases and never 

turned over any material related to the completed audit on Shepherd University. 

Furthermore, during the trial it was learned that numerous items purchased with Ms. 

Shanton's p-card, which were seized from her office and storage area at Shepherd University, 

had not been collected by the investigators but had been left in the care of Shepherd University 

employees. A review of this evidence was conducted in the evening after trial had concluded for 

the day. 

N. INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL 

During the pre-trial proceedings, Ms. Shanton challenged the sufficiency and 

constitutionality of the Indictment and the statute underlying the charges. The circuit court 

granted Ms. Shanton's motion on one ground- double jeopardy- and ordered that fifty-three (53) 
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of the counts be dismissed and that Ms. Shanton be solely tried on one count of fraudulent 

schemes. At that time, the circuit court did not issue any rulings on the other grounds raised in 

Ms. Shanton's motions. 

The State then filed a writ of prohibition against the circuit court and the proceedings 

were stayed while the case was litigated before this Court. After written briefs and oral 

argument, this Court granted the writ of prohibition and ruled that Ms. Shanton may properly be 

tried on all fifty-four (54) counts of the Indictment. This Court, although addressing one of the 

grounds briefly in a footnote, did not consider any of the other grounds raised by Ms. Shanton 

challenging the indictment and underlying statute. 

During the litigation of this issue, the State for the first time disclosed that it was basing 

some of the counts of the Indictment under the theory that even though the purchases were 

legitimate, the price and terms of the purchases were "excessive." 

Moreover, during the appellate process, Glen B. Gainer m, the Auditor of the State of 

West Virginia filed an amicus brief with this Court arguing that Ms. Shanton should be 

prosecuted on all of the charges. The Auditor's Office, with the assistance of the investigation of 

the Commission on Special Investigations, was the driving force behind the entire case against 

Ms. Shanton. In that amicus brief, the Auditor, who one would think would know the facts 

behind the prosecution, misstated the facts to this Court, when he wrote, "The defendant was 

charged in Count 1 of the Indictment with committing fraudulent schemes in violation of West 

Virginia Code § 61-3-24d, by using a state purchase card to make purchases of goods and 

services in the amount of $85,932.67 .... As previously discussed, Counts 2 through 54 charged 

the defendant with 53 separate unlawful purchasing card transactions which when aggregated 
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totaled $85,932.67." App.734. As it would later come out at trial for the first time, this was not 

the basis of Count 1. App.2075-2107. 

The circuit court would later issue an order denying the previously-ruled upon motions 

during the trial. 

V. 	 STEVE STATON - INVESTIGATOR WITH THE COMMISSION ON SPECIAL 
INVESTIGATIONS 

The State's first witness in the trial, Mr. Staton, would end up being examined on the 

witness stand for almost the entirety of the first week of the trial. On direct examination, Mr. 

Staton testified that during the course of his investigation, he learned that no student had received 

any Coach brand items as prizes, no student had received any NFL-themed items as prizes, and 

no student had received any makeup or beauty products as prizes. This testimony of finding no 

students that ever received the purchased items was repeated over and over again like a mantra. 

Q. 	 Did you find any witness who would confirm that they received perfume as part of 
a giveaway? 

A. We were unable to locate anyone. 

App.1175. 

Q. 	 What about Coach purses, there are some high dollar purses and bags in the 
hundred to several hundred dollar range, did Ms. Shanton purchase items such as 
that with her purchasing card? 

A. 	 Those items were purchased on a number of occasions. Those items were, in my 
opinion, very high dollar. We asked that question of people and we got a negative 
response, no one had ever received any Coach items. 

App.1176. 

Q. 	 Now, I may have asked you this already, if! did I apologize, but were you able to 
determine if anyone at Shepherd received giveaways that included perfume? 

A. We didn't locate anyone who had been given perfume. 

App.1222. 
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" 

Q. 	 Tell me if you recall were you able to find anyone who said they received a Coach 
item as part of a giveaway? 

A. 	 We did not find anyone who had received any Coach items. 

App.1232. 

Q. 	 Were you able to locate any individuals who said they received those knock-off 
perfumes, colognes, cigars or silk pillows cases as part of a giveaway? 

A. 	 We did not locate anyone who had received any of those items. 

App.1236. 

Q. 	 Again, as it relates to these three Coach items, ... were you ever able to determine 
if any students received those items in a giveaway? 

A. 	 We never located any student that had received a Coach item. 

App.1244. 

Q. 	 Again, you were able to locate no students who received items that were Coach 
items; is that correct? 

A. 	 That is true. 

App. 1246. 

Q. 	 Remind me, if I haven't already, were you able to locate a student who received 
perfume as any giveaway as part of any giveaway from the University? 

A. 	 We did not locate anyone who received any perfumes. 

App. 1251. 

Q. 	 Let me ask you again, this $952.42 purchase of Coach items, were you able to 
locate any students who received Coach items-

A. 	 No. 
Q. 	 - as giveaways? 
A. 	 None. 

App. 1262. 

Q. 	 Is this for $63.85? 
A. 	 Yes. 
Q. 	 For various NFL items? 
A. 	 That is correct... 
Q. 	 Were you able to determine if these items were received by any student in 
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giveaways? 
A. We didn't locate anyone who had received those items. 

App.1271-72. 

Q. 	 Did you ever determine if any student ever received any of the bats or other items 
purchased at the Lousiville Slugger Museum? 

A. We didn't locate anyone who received any adult bats or any other bats. 

App.1273. 

Q. 	 Were you able to determine during your investigation if any students ever received 
perfume as part of a giveaway? 

A. We did not locate any student that received any of those items. 

App.1275. 

However, on cross-examination, it would come out that Mr. Staton had performed very 

little actual investigation- he had not actually personally interviewed any of the more than 2,000 

students who had signed attendance sheets for attending Ms. Shanton's events, App. 1321-26, he 

had not interviewed any of the student-employees that coordinated these events with Ms. 

Shanton, App. 1355-56, he did not seek a search warrant for Ms. Shanton's vehicle or residence 

and did not find any of the purchased items in her personal possession, lApp. 1357-58, he did not 

search the storage room at Shepherd University that was utilized by Ms. Shanton's department, 

App. 1367, he did not examine the many emails that were seized from Ms. Shanton's account, 

App. 1368-69, he did not examine the many computer files that were pulled from Ms. Shanton's 

electronic devices, App. 1367, he did not contact the student center to get a schedule of events 

put on by Ms. Shanton, and he did no investigation of the stores where the ostensibly-illegal 

purchases were made. 

I In fact, Mr. Staton testified that "a Coach purse [is] not a unique enough item to seize in 
a search warrant," as an explanation as to why he never sought a search warrant. App. 1361. 
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Furthermore, Mr. Staton testified that even though he had prize lists that included Coach 

items, beauty products, make-overs, and many other prizes, he never contacted any student on 

those lists to determine whether or not they had actually received the listed prize. App. 1340-55. 

Even more tellingly, on cross-examination, Mr. Staton was confronted with emails 

between himself and Shepherd University's general counsel whereby the general counsel 

provided email responses from students who told the general counsel they had received various 

prizes from Ms. Shanton. In those responses, which Mr. Staton had received in his email, 

various students stated that they had received NFL merchandise, beauty products, and Coach 

items as prizes. For example, Mr. Staton testified as follows regarding the NFL merchandise: 

Q. 	 Now, I believe that you testified yesterday that you found no students that 
received any of the NFL merchandise that was purchased? 

A. 	 That is correct.. .. 
Q. 	 Sir, I am going to hand you what is marked for identification purposes as 

Defendant's 34. Does that appear to be an e-mail that was forwarded to you from 
Alan Perdue general counsel of Shepherd University? 

A. 	 Yes it is ... 
Q. 	 Now, the e-mail contains an e-mail from a student, correct? 
A. 	 That is correct. 
Q. 	 This student's name would be Shannon Sullivan? 
A. 	 Yes. 
Q. 	 Down here in the body of that response Shannon Sullivan, yes, I have received 

prizes and giveaways from activities on Shepherd Campus. I may not remember 
certain dates but here are a few: Fall 2010 4-Comer Outreach I won a cleaning 
basket it contained Lysol wipes, Windex, Febreeze air freshners and cleaning 
supplies. Spring of 2012 I went to a few Commuter bingo games and won NFL 
Ravens memorabilia, a koozi, lanyard and some other NFL things. Also won 
nick-knacks. Then she says she won something in the spring of 2011 looks like 
Valentine's basket. Do you see that, sir? 

A. 	 Yes. 
Q. 	 When you testified yesterday that you never learned any student received any NFL 

merchandise that was false? 
A. 	 I did not remember this e-mail. 

App. 1439-42. Defense counsel then presented Mr. Staton with other emails contained in the 
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discovery that he, as the lead investigator collected, that demonstrated that Ms. Shanton was 

discussing with her student-employees the purchasing of NFL jerseys and merchandise and that 

Ms. Shanton had an email exchange with her student-employee about making sure that prize 

winners received their jerseys. App. 1452-57. This was especially critical evidence because the 

jerseys that were discussed where specifically itemized in the indictment as being fraudulent 

purchases. App. 1454-55. 

On cross-examination, Mr. Staton testified that the reason that Ms. Shanton was able to 

get away with so many personal purchases was because noone was monitoring her spending. 

Q. The only reason that these Coach purchases were made on multiple occasions was 
because no one was monitoring Ms. Shanton's purchases, correct? 

A. No one was monitoring her purchases, no .... 

App. 1510. However, Mr. Staton was then presented with emails between the West Virginia 

State Auditor's office and the Shepherd University P-Card division, whereby the West Virginia 

State Auditor's office was conducting individual audits of various purchases at or near the time 

of the purchases themselves. Some of these individual audits included items underlying various 

counts of the Indictment, including Coach purchases and beauty product purchases. App. 1462

65, 1512-13. Defendant's Exhibit 56 was an email between Jordan Kirk, Purchasing Card

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