ALLEGED ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it did not dismiss the indictment because of alleged Brady 
violations. 

... .u. . . . The Circuit Court erred when it did not dismiss the indictment because of alleged false. 
testimony presented to the Grand Jury. 

III. The Circuit Court erred when it failed to limit the State's expert testimony. 

IV. The Circuit Court erred when instructing the jury. 

V. The Circuit Court erred when it did not dismiss the indictment as based on an 
unconstitutional statute. 

VI. The Circuit Court erred when it refused to dismiss the indictment based on insufficiency.

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

In State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 306,470 S.E.2d 613, 625 (1996), this Court wrote that, 

"[t]ypically, appellate courts give trial judges a wide berth of respect with regards to these kinds 

ofdiscretionary judgments."· The LaRock-courtfurther noted that:·· ... 

In note 6 of Gentry v. Mangum, 195 W.Va. 512, 520, 466 S.E.2d 
171, 179 (1995), we made clear that an abuse ofdiscretion 
standard is not appellant friendly: 

"We review these rulings only for an abuse ofdiscretion. 
Only rarely and in extraordinary circumstances will we, 
from the vista of a cold appellate record, reverse a circuit 
court's on-the-spotjudgment concerning the relative 
weighing ofprobative value and unfair effect. Our review, 
however, must have some purpose and that is why we 
review under the abuse ofdiscretion standard. In general, 
an abuse ofdiscretion occurs when a material factor 
deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper 
factor is relied upon, or when all proper an no improper 
factors are assessed by the circuit court makes a serious 
mistake in weighing them." 

196 W.Va. at 306-7, 470 S.E.2d at 625-6. 

Further, this court has held that, "On appeal, legal conclusions made with regard to 

suppression determinations are reviewed de novo. Factual determination upon which these legal 

conclusions are based are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard." Syllabus Point 3, 

State v. Stuart, 192 W.Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994). 

Moreover, "[t]he decision to admit or reject expert evidence is committed to the sound 

discretion of a trial court, and the court's determinations are reviewable only for an abuse of 

discretion." LaRock, supra. See Board of Education ofMcDowell County v. Zando, Martin & 

Milstead, Inc., 182 W.Va. 597. 612, 390 S.E.2d 796,811 (1990); Rozas v. Rozas, 176 W.Va. 

235,240,342 S.E.2d 201,206 (1986). 

Petitioner claims that the admission ofMr. Butler's "expert testimony" prejudiced her. 

However, the State did not introduce Mr. Butler's testimony as expert testimony, but relied upon 
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his experience investigating fraud and misuse of State purchasing cards as director of the 

Auditor's program oversight for the purchase card program and as a senior fraud examiner for 

the State Auditor's Office, comparable with other professional investigators. A.R. 1960:11 - 24. 

The State Auditor is authorized by statute to employ such forensic accountants ''to receive and 

review reports of suspected fraud, misappropriation, mismanagement or waste of state funds." 

West Virginia Code § 12-4A-3. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the 

testimony ofMr. Butler regarding blending of legitimate and unlawful purchases. The circuit 

court, in its ruling permitting the testimony ofMr. Butler, found: 

[T]he fact that an accountant would get up and describe almost as a 
person would attack a blending of fiduciary funds, or a 
commingling of accounts, that a person in a position to make 
purchases might not dedicate all ofthose things purchased to a 
legitimate, only some, frankly, doesn't seem surprising under the 
evidence. 

It doesn't seem like a technical or expert opinion. It seems 
more ofa sort ofcommon sense conclusion of a possibility that 
could exist ... 

A.R. 1965:12 - 20. Because the trial court exercised, but did not abuse, its sound discretion in 

admitting Mr. Butler's testimony, this court should not disturb that decision. 

Even if this Court considers Mr. Butler's testimony to be expert testimony, the Petitioner 

is still entitled to no relief. Based on the same abuse of discretion standard for the admission of 

expert testimony which applies for all evidence, the Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that such 

an abuse ofdiscretion occurred. In LaRock, this court recognized that "[u]nder the West 

Virginia Rules ofEvidence, expert testimony is admissible if a witness qualifies as an expert and 

the proffered testimony 'will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a 

fact in issue.'" 196 W.Va. 306, 470 S.E.2d at 625. Quoting W.Va.R.Evid. 702. Petitioner 

argues that Mr. Butler's testimony regarding the blending oflegitimate and fraudulent purchases 
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was not previously presented during his less than two hour appearance before the grand jury 

which was recorded on approximately 50 pages oftestimony. A.R. 114 - 166. By comparison, 

Mr. Butler testified over three days at trial, and his testimony there consisted of333 pages. A.R. 

1898 - 2231. Unsurprisingly, in less than one sixth the testimony at grand jury, certain topics 

were not discussed with the grand jury which were inquired about at trial. 

Moreover, because the Petitioner did not timely object to the alleged error, or move for a 

mistrial, she waived her ability to raise this issue on appeal. This Court has repeatedly held that 

the failure to preserve error constitutes a waiver ofthat alleged error: 

This Court has recognized that "[w]hen there has been a knowing and 
intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right, there is 
no error and the inquiry as to the effect ofa deviation from the rule of 
law need not be determined." Syl. pt. 8, in part, State v. Miller, 194 
W.Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Accord Syl. pt. 4, in part, State v. 
Lightner, 205 W.Va. 657, 520 S.E.2d 654 (1999). Similarly, we have 
stated that "[g]enerally the failure to object constitutes a waiver of 
the right to raise the matter on appeal." State v. Asbury, 187 W.Va. 
87,91,415 S.E.2d 891,895 (1992) (per curiam). 

Manor Care, Inc. v. Douglas, 234 W.Va. 57, 763 S.E.2d 73 (2014)(emphasis added). Petitioner 

here neither objected, nor moved for a mistrial. Rather, the witness testified at trial for a period 

of time which consisted of approximately 5 pages oftranscript regarding the types of 

transactions which might alert the Auditor's Office to fraudulent activity on a cardholder's 

account, and the concept of blending legitimate with unauthorized transactions. A.R. 1910:10

1915:6. Throughout this testimony the Petitioner failed to object or otherwise preserve this 

alleged due process violation7• Based upon the Petitioner's failure to preserve such alleged error 

there are no grounds for this court to now consider the matter. 

The Respondent notes that the Petitioner did object in a written motion in limine after the testimony 
concluded for the day on December 7, 2015, and on the record the following day, December 8, 2015. A.R. 1939
1940; 1960 -1965. However, when the testimony was initially heard by the jury on December 7, 2015, the 
Petitioner failed to object. 
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However, even if the Petitioner had timely objected, the circuit court's broad discretion in 

making evidentiary rulings applied, and there is no allegation that the circuit court abused that 

broad discretion. Because the Circuit Court properly exercised and did not abuse its discretion in 

permitting the testimony ofMr. Butler, consistent with the requirements of LaRock, supra, this 

court should not now disturb that determination upon appeal. 

III. The Circuit Court Properly Instructed the Jury. 

This Court has previously held that, "As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested 

jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse ofdiscretion. By contrast, the question ofwhether a jury 

was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is de novo." Syllabus Point 1, State 

v. Hinkle, 200 W.Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996). This Court has also held if a trial court's 

instructions to the jury are a correct statement oflaw, then deference shall be given to the trial 

court whose ruling shall be disturbed only for an abuse of discretion. 

A trial court's instructions to the jury must be a ~orrect statement 
of the law and supported by the evidence. Jury instructions are 
reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, 
sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues 
involved and were not misled by the law. A jury instruction cannot 
be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is looked at 
when determining its accuracy. A trial court, therefore, has broad 
discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, so long as the 
charge accurately reflects the law. Deference is given to a trial 
court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the 
instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific 
instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion. 

Syllabus Point 4, State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). 

As this court noted in Guthrie, supra: 

[T]he United States Supreme Court has acknowledged that given 
"the reality of the human fallibility of the participants, there can be 
no such thing as an error-free, perfect trial, and that the 
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Constitution does not guarantee such a trial." U.S. v. Hasting, 461 
U.S. at 508-09, 103 S.Ct. at 1980, 76 L.Ed.2d at 106. Thus, the 
Supreme Court has held that an appellate court should not exercise 
its "[s ]upervisory power to reverse a conviction ... when the error 
to which it is addressed is harmless since, by defInition, the 

... 	convictionwould have been obtained notwithstanding the asserted
error." Hasting, 461 U.S. at 506, 103 S.Ct. at 1979, 76 L.Ed.2d at 
104. 

The harmless error doctrine requires this Court to consider 
the error in light of the record as a whole, but the standard of 
review in detennining whether an error is harmless depends on 
whether the error was constitutional or nonconstitutional. It is also 
necessary for us to distinguish between an error resulting from the 
admission of evidence and other trial error. As to error not 
involving the erroneous admission of evidence, we have held that 
nonconstitutional error is harmless when it is highly probable the 
error did not contribute to the judgment. 

194 W.Va. at 684, 461 S.E.2d at 190. 

Here, the jury instructions were constructed based upon the applicable statute, West 

Virginia Code § 12-3-10b8, the rules promulgated pursuant to the statute, including 155 C.S.R.7 

and the Auditor's Office Purchasing Card Policies and Procedures. A.R. 3596 - 3620. As the 

circuit court noted in its ru1ing on jury instructions: 

The Court's method for detennining the elements for each subset 
[ofoffenses] are: 1) Mirror the statute; 2) Include language for 
what the State has alleged the manner by which the violation has 
occurred (violation of the specifIc rules in the rules promulgated 
pursuant to this section or violation of Section 10a (nor for state 
purposes) unless the state alleges both manners .... 

8 The version ofWest Virginia Code § 12-3-10b which controlled this case was the 1996 version which 
provided: 

Fraudulent or unauthorized use o/purchasing cardprohibited; penalties 
It is unlawful for any person to use a state purchase card, issued in accordance with the provisions of section 
ten-a of this article, to make any purchase ofgoods or services in a manner which is contrary to the provisions 
of section ten-a ofthis article or the rules promulgated pursuant to that section. Any person who violates the 
provisions of this section is guilty ofa felony, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be confined in the penitentiary 
not less than one nor more than five years, or fmed no more than five thousand dollars, or both fined and 
imprisoned. 
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A.R. 2980:10- 18. Consistent with that ruling, the court instructed the jury as follows: 

Before the Defendant, Elizabeth A. Libby Shanton, can be 
convicted of fraudulent or unauthorized use ofa purchasing card 
by purchasing unauthorized items at excessive terms, prices or 
. quantities, as charged in each of Counts 37, 39, 40 & 41; the State 
ofWest Virginia must for each ofthese counts overcome the 
presumption that the Defendant, Elizabeth A. Libby Shanton, is 
innocent and prove to the satisfaction of the jury beyond a 
reasonable doubt that: 

1. 	 The Defendant, Elizabeth A. Libby Shanton, 
2. 	 In Jefferson County, West Virginia, 
3. 	 Did use her state issued purchasing card, 
4. 	 To make a purchase, 
5. 	 For unauthorized goods or services at terms ofprice or 

quantity that the Defendant lmew were excessive: 

As charged in Count 37. 
A. 	 At United Airlines for a purchase of a fIrst class airline 

ticket for $1,439.70, 
B. 	 Which purchase was made on or about the 21st day ofMay 

of2012, 
C. 	 And did verify in Jefferson County that said purchase 

conformed with state law on or about the 21st day ofMay 
of2012 to the 8th day of August of2012. 

As charged in Count 39. 
A. At Six Stars of New York for a purchase ofa limousine 

service for $99.82, 
B. 	 Which purchase was made on or about the 29th day of July 

of2012, 
C. 	 And did verify in Jefferson County that said purchase 

conformed with state law on or about the 29th day of July of 
2012 to the 7th day of September 2012. 

As charged in Count 40. 
A. At Six Stars ofNew York for a purchase ofa limousine 

service for $99.00, 
B. 	 Which purchase was made on or about the 29th day of July 

of2012, 
C. 	 And did verify in Jefferson County that said purchase 

conformed with state law on or about the 29th day ofJuly of 
2012 to the 7th day of September of2012. 

As charged in Count 41. 
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A. 	At Six Stars ofNew York for purchase of a limousine 
service for $114.54, 

B. 	 Which purchase was made on or about the 29th day of July 
of2012, 

C. 	 And did verify in Jefferson County that said purchase 
confonned with·the state law on or· about the29~ day-of 
July 2012 to the 7th day of September of2012. 

If after impartially considering, weighing and comparing all of 
the evidence that has been presented during this trial, each and 
every member of the jury is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt 
of the truth of the charge as to each of these elements of fraudulent 
or authorized items at excessive tenns, prices or quantities, 
Elizabeth A. Libby Shanton guilty ofthat or those counts. 

If each and every member of the jury has a reasonable doubt of 
the truth ofthe charge as to anyone or more of these elements of 
fraudulent or unauthorized use ofa purchasing card by purchasing 
authorized items in excessive tenns, prices or quantities in one or 
more of these counts, you shall find the Defendant Elizabeth A. 
Libby Shanton not guilty of that or those counts. 

Petitioner objects to the instructions to the jury on Counts 37, 39,40 and 41, which each 

allege that the Petitioner's purchases therein were at excessive prices. Petitioner specifically 

contends that the term "excessive" is vague and subjective and claims that use of the tenn 

"excessive" violates her due process rights. 

However, the term "excessive" is neither vague, nor subjective. The most recent edition 

ofBlack's Law Dictionary, (lOth ed. 2014) provides three definitions for "excess"; 

1. The amount or degree by which something is greater than 
another. 2. The action of exceeding one's authority or overstepping 
a prescribed limit or going beyond one's rights. 3. Immoderate or 
undue indulgence, esp. in food or drink. 

A prior edition of Black's Law Dictionary defines "Excessive" as, "[g]reater than what is usual 

or proper. A general term for what goes beyond just measure or amount. ... Tending to or 

marked by excess which is the quality or state ofexceeding the proper or reasonable limit or 
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measure." (6th ed. 1990)(Intemal citation omitted). Section 9.2 of the West Virginia State 

Auditor's Office Purchasing Card Policies and Procedures provides: 

Misuse/Abuse is the improper, unlawful or incorrect use, 
.. compromise or misapplication of the P-Card. Examples include: 

• 	 Failure to maintain security protecting your P-Card 
• 	 Paying for items in which the P-Card is not authorized for 

payment 
• 	 Purchase ofauthorized goods or services, at terms (e.g. 

price, quantity) that are excessive 

A.R. 3614. Thus given the plain meaning of the word excessive included within the Policies and 

Procedures and instructions, the word was neither vague, nor subjective. 

Accordingly, the instructions given by the Circuit Court when looked at as a whole, A.R. 

2984 - 3022, contain a correct statement of law, as required by Guthrie. Moreover, the Circuit 

Court did not abuse its discretion in formulating those jury instructions. Because there was no 

abuse of discretion by the court ~ formulating the instructions, which contained a correct 

statement of law, the circuit court's decision to permit the jury to deliberate on the four counts of 

the indictment questioned herein should not be disturbed on appeal. 
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CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the Respondent requests that this Court deny 

the Petition for Appeal.